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INTRODUCTION


THE FINAL RESTING place of Ulysses S. Grant, the victorious Civil War general and eighteenth president of the United States, is a colossal, 150-foot-tall neoclassical tomb located in the most important city in the country. It is larger than the final resting place of any other president—in fact, it is larger than the final resting place of any other person in America. There is nothing like it in the United States or in our neighbor nations. Ulysses S. Grant’s tomb is the largest in North America, but sadly, many people—too many—are completely unfamiliar with it.

Grant’s Tomb harkens back to the sacred and immense burial wonders of the Roman emperors and Egyptian pharaohs. But while millions travel great distances to see the pyramids, Rome’s Castel Sant’Angelo, and the Taj Mahal, a mere fraction of those have climbed into a minivan or stepped onto a subway to visit Grant’s Tomb. In fact, many Americans (including a surprising number in New York) could not even say where it is. And more than a few do not realize that Grant’s Tomb is Grant’s final resting place! This is because what most people do know, unfortunately, is the tired old Groucho Marx gag, “Who is buried in Grant’s Tomb?” a joke first used on his TV game show You Bet Your Life as a softball question for those hapless contestants who could answer no others correctly.

But this was not always the case. At the end of the Civil War, Grant was among the most admired Americans, if not the most admired, especially in the North. He epitomized the country’s highest aspirations: Grant’s presidential campaign slogan was “Let us have peace,” and he personified the reunification of North and South. When he died in 1885, Grant had become one of the most popular men in the world and undoubtedly the most beloved in America. His death was deeply mourned by people both north and south of the Mason-Dixon line. “Let us have peace” became his inspiring epitaph.

What followed his death is a story of honor, glory, drama, and intrigue as well as controversy, which began almost the moment Grant passed away. Many cities vied for the privilege of hosting his burial place. The honor was awarded to New York City, leaving many outside the state infuriated, jealous, and resentful. Construction of Grant’s Tomb was almost canceled before the cornerstone was laid, due to a lack of organization and funding and an abundance of dithering and resistance. When the tomb was finally completed twelve years later, it immediately became the most popular destination in New York City.

But it was never just the tomb of one man. Even before it was completed, there were persistent questions: What does Grant’s Tomb mean? What is its significance? The answer, as we will see, has evolved over the years and continues to change to this day.

In the decades immediately after death, Ulysses S. Grant was as adored as Abraham Lincoln and George Washington. His grave became a sacred and revered shrine to which hundreds of thousands made a pilgrimage each year, many of them Union and Confederate veterans who gathered to celebrate reunification. During this same period, Confederate monuments also began to proliferate in the South.

For two decades Grant’s Tomb remained the top attraction in New York City. But as the Civil War generation passed into history, the visitors dwindled. A hundred years after the Civil War ended, Grant’s reputation had declined, he slipped from public memory, and his neglected tomb fell into disrepair. It was vandalized, desecrated, and besieged by junkies, prostitutes, and gang members until only the bravest souls ventured to see it.

But like the man, Ulysses S. Grant’s Tomb is resilient, and it has endured. Today it is again different—not the revered site it once was nor the disgraced one it later became. Most dismiss it as an out-of-the-way attraction among the plethora of tourist sites located throughout the city, or just another historic site managed by the National Park Service, or the grave of another president whose accomplishments have long since been forgotten, to be visited by school groups, scout troops, and people who are “into that kind of stuff.” But it is more, much more, and people should know its story.

One logistical note: the site was not and never has been officially known as “Grant’s Tomb.” While it was called that by some from the outset, it was also referred to as “Grant Monument” or “Grant Memorial.” Today its official name is the “General Grant National Memorial,” but “Grant’s Tomb” remains its most recognized moniker, and I use it throughout this book to make it easy for the reader.
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“GENERAL GRANT IS DOOMED”

AMERICA’S EIGHTEENTH PRESIDENT, Ulysses S. Grant, left office on March 4, 1877 after two tumultuous terms. As a Civil War general, his accomplishments were unquestioned and his accolades well-deserved. Along with Abraham Lincoln, Grant was heralded as one of the two men most responsible for restoring the Union and abolishing slavery. But because Lincoln was tragically assassinated on the verge of victory, it was Grant alone who survived to receive the nation’s adulation. Grant never forgot his enemy were fellow Americans, and in accepting the surrender of Confederate General Robert E. Lee at Appomattox, he was generous and accommodating. Grant shared rations with the starved Confederate soldiers and allowed them to return to their homes with dignity. For this, he earned the respect of the defeated Southerners. In subsequent history, he has been widely admired as a “magnanimous warrior of mythic status to whom the people of the United States turned for leadership time and again in the years after Lincoln’s assassination,” as Joan Waugh has written.1

As a president, however, he was often lambasted as a novice politician whose trust in his cabinet and those in his inner circle was misguided and abused. The list of scandals during his administration is extensive and relentless, and the subject is worthy of a book of its own. Among the most notorious was the Black Friday gold panic of September 1869, when two acquaintances, financiers and railroad magnates James Fisk and Jay Gould, conspired with Grant’s brother-in-law Abel Rathbone Corbin to corner the gold market. In the early 1870s, there was corruption in the post office involving inflated or fictitious mail routes on the Pacific coast. The scheme that became known as the Star Route postal ring implicated Postmaster General John Creswell. In 1872, several Republican senators and Grant’s vice president, Schuyler Colfax, were accused of accepting bribes in exchange for favorable legislation that benefited the Crédit Mobilier of America railroad company. The Whiskey Ring scandal, exposed in 1875, involved (among others) Grant’s private secretary, Orville Babcock, who was indicted for conspiring to defraud the government of millions in liquor excise tax. Other scandals involved the Department of the Interior, the Department of Justice, the Department of War, the Department of Navy, and the New York Custom House. While General Grant basked in glory, President Grant wallowed in corruption. Despite his failings, he remained beloved by many, and his legacy as General Grant, more than President Grant, would be most enduring.

Historians generally accept that Grant was not corrupt himself, nor did he profit from any of the scandals that rocked his presidency, but rather that he was guilty of being a poor judge of character. This fatal flaw would come back to haunt him in spades later in his life. But through all his ups and downs, Grant comported himself with the dignity, persistence, and self-assurance of a man who somehow knew he would come out on top in the end.

Hiram Ulysses Grant was born to Jesse and Hannah Simpson Grant in Point Pleasant, Ohio, on April 27, 1822. Ulysses (who rarely used his first name) was mild-mannered, loved horses, and enjoyed reading. He grew up in a fervently antislavery family, and his parents’ views strongly shaped him as he grew into adulthood. His father was a tanner, but Ulysses wanted to forge his own path, explaining, “I’d like to be a farmer, or a down-the-river trader, or get an education.”2 Without consulting Ulysses, his father Jesse enrolled him in West Point Academy, where he could receive a free education and possibly launch a career in business. By mistake, his application, which was completed by someone else on his behalf, gave his name as Ulysses Simpson Grant, assuming that his mother’s maiden name had been used as the child’s middle name, as was customary. After initial hesitation, Ulysses took to the new name; he had never liked his initials “HUG” anyway. He also grew to love the military and decided to pursue a life as a soldier. After graduation, he was commissioned as a brevet second lieutenant and stationed at Jefferson Barracks outside of St. Louis, Missouri. There he met the sister of a fellow West Point graduate, Julia Dent. Ulysses was immediately smitten, but she was less certain. Julia slowly warmed to him, but military life was not always conducive to romance. During their courtship, Ulysses left to fight in the Mexican-American War in 1846, where he served under future president Zachary Taylor. Enthralled with the beauty of the Mexican countryside, especially Monterrey, he gushed in a letter to Julia, “This is the most beautiful spot that it has been my fortune to see in the world.”3

Grant’s life story consistently shows a thoroughly decent man of good intentions, but his early years followed a course of continual ups and downs, success followed by inevitable failure. Grant excelled in the military, where he discovered a sense of purpose and rose through the ranks. After the Mexican-American War, he was stationed on the farthest edges of the United States, first in the Oregon Territory and later in California. Without Julia and with a lot of time on his hands, he took to drinking. While stationed at Fort Humboldt in northern California, he was promoted to captain by Secretary of War Jefferson Davis. Grant responded to Davis with two letters, both written on April 11, 1854. The first was to proudly accept the commission. In the second he wrote simply, “I very respectfully tender my resignation of my commission as an officer of the Army.” The reason for the quick switch was rumored to be the result of a drinking binge at Fort Humboldt, after which his senior officer gave him an ultimatum: resign and receive an honorable discharge, or face court-martial. After Grant left the military, attempts at business and farming met similar fates, as early promise ended in failure.

For Grant, as for so many other Americans, the Civil War changed everything. Given his ignominious departure from the military, Grant was at first hesitant to enlist, but soon, in April 1861, the former soldier was convinced to volunteer for the Union cause. Urged to enlist as a captain, Grant demurred, having departed the military at that same rank seven years earlier. Instead, Grant reentered the military at a much lower rank, as an aide to the adjutant general’s office, and focused on training volunteers. He again quickly rose in the ranks and was promoted to colonel of the 21st Illinois Volunteers in June 1861 and brigadier general in September 1861. As his sphere of command increased, he amassed victory after victory on the battlefield. In February 1862, Grant had Confederate general and old West Point friend Simon Bolivar Buckner cornered at Fort Donelson, Tennessee. Buckner sought to negotiate a surrender, but Grant was defiant. On February 16, the message he sent Buckner in response earned him the name that would define his career: “Sir: Yours of this date proposing Armistice, and appointment of Commissioners, to settle terms of Capitulation is just received. No terms except unconditional and immediate surrender can be accepted. I propose to move immediately upon your works.” Ulysses Simpson Grant, better known as U. S. Grant, had now become “Unconditional Surrender” Grant.4 After the victory, President Lincoln promoted Grant to the rank of major general.

Later that year, in December 1862, Grant issued his notorious General Order No. 11. The order was in response to Northerners participating in an illegal cotton trade with Southerners using Confederate currency—which had the effect of devaluing US Treasury notes—along the Southern borders. Jewish traders were among the guilty, though they were by no means the only participants in the illicit commerce. However, Grant’s order stated narrowly, “The Jews, as a class violating every regulation of trade established by the Treasury Department and also department orders, are hereby expelled from this department [of the Tennessee, the territory that included parts of Kentucky, Mississippi, and Tennessee] within 24 hours from the receipt of this order.” Within a few weeks, the order was revoked by President Lincoln, who objected not to its intent but rather its sweeping implication of “an entire religious class.” The order haunted Grant for the rest of his public career and remains a stain on his legacy.5
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Ulysses S. Grant, photograph taken 1864 to commemorate his promotion to Commanding General of the United States Army. (Courtesy of the National Park Service, Manhattan Historic Sites Archive)

Grant continued to win not only brutal and bloody battles but also the admiration of President Lincoln. Still, rumors of Grant’s drinking plagued the president. Confronted with the accusations and saddled with generals like George B. McClellan, who would rather march in formation than engage the enemy, Lincoln defended Grant by shooting back, “I can’t spare this man, he fights!” Lincoln promoted Grant to Commanding General of the United States Army in March 1864. His ascendancy over three years, from a failed businessman to the most powerful military leader in the United States, was nothing short of staggering. The following year he defeated Confederate General Robert E. Lee’s army to bring the bloodiest war in American history to a conclusion.

After the Civil War, Grant conquered the battlefield of politics when he was elected president in 1868. Though plagued by scandal, Grant’s administration had several notable successes. The Treaty of Washington strengthened relations with Great Britain, and he ushered in the conservation movement with the Yellowstone National Park Protection Act. He also advocated for the rights of Native Americans and African Americans. In his inaugural address, Grant declared, “The proper treatment of the original occupants of this land—the Indians—[is] one deserving of careful study. I will favor any course toward them which tends to their civilization and ultimate citizenship.”6 When former Confederate soldiers formed the Ku Klux Klan to terrorize free blacks in the South and reverse the gains made during Radical Reconstruction, Grant attacked the organization with the same ferocity he had demonstrated in Vicksburg and Shiloh years earlier. Thousands of Klan members were arrested and the terrorist organization was dismantled. But during his second term, his enthusiasm for Native American rights faded, and Reconstruction became less of a priority, as his administration grew mired in scandal and corruption.

Two months after leaving the presidency, in May 1877, Grant arrived in Philadelphia, where he stayed with his good friend George W. Childs. After being feted for a week, including a reception at Independence Hall on May 14, Ulysses and Julia departed for a tour around the world.7 Grant had nurtured a passion for travel since his time as a soldier during the Mexican-American War, and despite his tarnished presidency, he remained a beloved figure around the globe. While many of his larger expenses, such as a vacation home in Long Branch, New Jersey, had been funded by wealthy admirers, the trip was paid for by Grant himself. In the years after the Civil War, Grant had invested in the Consolidated Virginia Mining Company, based in Virginia City, Nevada, purchasing twenty-five shares. Riding the success of the Comstock silver and gold mines, he had made a profit of $25,000. Grant estimated that the fortune gained from his successful investment would cover two and a half years of travel.8

Fifteen years earlier, in 1862, a young reporter named Samuel Langhorne Clemens had arrived in the bustling mining town. In February 1863, writing for the Territorial Enterprise newspaper, Clemens penned his first article under the alias that would shine in the annals of American literature: Mark Twain. It was under his nom de plume that he had met Grant in 1866 in Washington, DC. On Grant’s eleven-day transatlantic journey in 1877, he read Mark Twain’s The Innocents Abroad. Destiny would bring these two together again in the years to come.

Grant was no typical American tourist. In England, crowds cheered and held banners that read WELCOME TO THE LIBERATOR and his campaign slogan of reunification, LET US HAVE PEACE.9 In France, he visited the studio of Frédéric Auguste Bartholdi. The sculptor was hard at work on the historic gift to America that would one day rival Grant’s Tomb as the top tourist destination in New York, the Statue of Liberty.

In Spain, the Grants visited the Royal Chapel of Granada. Built in the early 1500s, the building serves as the final resting place of the Spanish monarchs who sponsored Christopher Columbus’s voyage to the New World, Queen Isabella I and King Ferdinand. The coffins are inside two sarcophagi that rest side by side in the chapel. Reportedly, on viewing the memorial, Grant turned to his wife and said, “Julia, this is the way we should rest in death.”10

At every exotic locale, Grant was bathed in adulation. In China, Grant met Viceroy Li Hung-Chang. Despite the cultural chasm, the two quickly bonded. Li was so impressed with Grant’s diplomatic skills that he asked Grant to help negotiate a treaty between China and Japan over the disputed Ryukyu Islands. (President Hayes authorized Grant’s participation.) Japanese leaders, apparently as impressed as Li, agreed to the terms.11

Grant was accompanied on his voyage by New York Herald reporter John Russell Young, who later wrote about his experiences in the book Around the World with General Grant. While on the journey, Young published conversations with Grant in a regular Herald feature he called “Table Talk.” Grant biographer Ronald C. White recounts, “Americans thrilled to Grant speaking in his own voice about the important persons and episodes of his military and political career.”12 These articles whetted the appetite of the American public, who craved more from Grant in his own words. Later Grant succumbed to the demands and wrote short accounts of battles for Century Magazine. Once the public heard the authentic Grant voice, their demands increased for a full-length treatment, but that would not come for years yet.
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Ulysses S. Grant and Viceroy Li Hung-Chang in China in January 1879 during Grant’s two-and-a-half-year world tour. After Grant’s death, Li visited his old friend’s temporary tomb shortly before the permanent memorial was completed. (Courtesy of the Library of Congress)

Finally, two and a half years after leaving the United States, the Grants boarded the iron steamship City of Tokio in Japan on September 20, 1879, to return home. As the famous passenger approached the American west coast, yachts and steamboats met his ship to escort it into San Francisco Bay. Only three decades after the discovery of gold, San Francisco was still flush with cash, and the citizens doled out their riches to welcome Grant home. In the bay, he boarded the St. Paul, where he was greeted by a welcoming party of four hundred guests. After a luncheon of “quail in aspic, foie gras and ices washed down by a Niagara of Mumm’s best champagne,” he disembarked and was given a grand escort to the luxurious Palace Hotel.13

After several more celebrations in San Francisco, Grant embarked upon a meandering journey east. He settled briefly in his hometown of Galena, Illinois, in November. Later in the month, he continued east to Chicago, where he was feted with a grand affair. After reviewing a parade of 80,000 marchers, the dignitaries made their way to the Palmer House. There Grant was toasted repeatedly and sat, composed, through fourteen speeches rife with praise. The fifteenth and final man at the podium that evening was Mark Twain. Standing on a table so all could hear his sharp wit, he delivered his toast to “The Babies—As they comfort us in our sorrows, let us not forget them in our festivities.” In the early morning hours, Grant laughed throughout Twain’s tongue-in-cheek tribute.14

On December 16, 1879, the Grants arrived in Philadelphia. During the previous thirty-one months, they had circled the globe. Everywhere they went, Grant was heralded as a hero and liberator of four million enslaved people. He left America a national hero; he returned as global royalty.

His popularity at an apogee, Grant was once again considered for the highest office in the land. Despite a scandal-ridden two-term presidency, his handlers believed Americans were willing to overlook his failings and elect him a third time in the 1880 election.15 Worried that his popularity might peak too soon, advisers suggested another trip, calculating that the adoration could be prolonged to coincide with the upcoming campaign. Fortunately, the Grants were not yet cured of the travel bug, so they escaped the northern winter with a trip south. The couple traveled to Florida, Cuba, and Mexico, the land Grant had fallen in love with more than three decades earlier during the Mexican-American War.

The Grants returned to the United States in March 1880. While the former president did not publicly seek the presidency, he wasn’t aloof to the possibility of another shot at it, and when he learned that his name would be submitted as a Republican candidate, he did not forbid it. With his hat once again in the ring, Grant remained publicly uninterested but was privately active in the campaign. Yet it was another Civil War veteran—although one not nearly as illustrious—James A. Garfield, who won the Republican nomination and was elected. While the mysteries of fate can never be fully unraveled, perhaps the loss was a blessing for Grant. Barely four months after taking office, on July 2, 1881, Garfield was shot by Charles J. Guiteau as he walked casually through the Baltimore and Potomac Railroad station in Washington, DC. After enduring excruciating medical treatment, he perished on September 19, 1881, at the New Jersey shore town of Long Branch. Garfield was the second president assassinated in only sixteen years.

Failing to get a nomination he had not publicly pursued, Grant abandoned further ambitions of public office. He did, however, actively campaign on Garfield’s behalf. He spoke in Hartford, Connecticut, hometown of Mark Twain, a member of the welcoming committee. Before the appearance, Twain spoke with Grant’s son Fred, and the subject of his father’s finances arose. In his autobiography, Twain recalled that, in their discussion, “it gradually came out that the General, so far from being a rich man, as was commonly supposed, had not even income enough to enable him to live as respectably as a third-rate physician.”16 But through the generosity of friends and other means, the Grants got by.

The Grants moved to New York City after the election, settling into opulent accommodations at the Fifth Avenue Hotel. Built in 1859 at 200 Fifth Avenue, the hotel had become “the grandest and most glamorous hotel of the Gilded Age.”17 Grant was familiar with it, having stayed there before, and it had also served as Republican national headquarters. The Fifth Avenue Hotel was where the movement to nominate Grant for the presidency had been launched, at the elegant and much talked about “Peabody dinner,” hosted by millionaire philanthropist George Peabody on March 22, 1867.18 While at the hotel, Grant was frequently visited by Mark Twain, as the two grew from casual acquaintances to close friends—ironically, for Twain had briefly served in the Confederate Army. Twain later confessed to being an unabashed admirer, going so far as to call himself “Grant intoxicated.”19 As many others had before him, Twain suggested to Grant that he write his memoirs. Grant demurred, claimed he was not a talented writer, and added that he did not need additional income.20 Twain continued to visit Grant after the former president relocated to permanent accommodations in a brownstone at 3 East Sixty-Sixth Street in August 1881. (This building no longer exists, but there is a marker at the entrance of the current building at that location.) The luxurious home in the most well-to-do area of the city was given to him by wealthy friends, including J. Pierpont Morgan, Anthony Drexel, Thomas Scott, Hamilton Fish (his former secretary of state), and George W. Childs.21

In New York, the popular former president stayed politically active. After Garfield’s death two months after he was shot, Grant attended his funeral in Washington, DC, in September 1881. Wealthy friends continued to support him financially and assembled a quarter-million-dollar trust fund to provide him an annuity. But despite his generous friends, Grant was not a wealthy man and focused on building his own portfolio. His son, Ulysses Simpson “Buck” Grant Jr., and an associate, Ferdinand Ward, founded a brokerage house named Grant & Ward in 1880. Buck had attended Harvard University and Columbia Law School but had seemed to find his true talents as an investor.22 However, the real brains of the operation was Ward; at only twenty-eight, he had realized impressive, almost unbelievable profits for his investors. A Wall Street peer described Ward as “magnetic” and “deceitfully unassuming.”23 Between that financial success and the family relation, the two were easily able to convince Grant to invest heavily in their firm.

Initially sizable profits silenced Ward’s most vocal skeptics. Grant’s wealth grew to $1.5 million, and any concerns about his family’s financial security abated. But Ward was not quite what he appeared to be. His own father once wrote of him, “It is hard to trust his word or confide in him as to anything.”24 He was right; Grant should have been more discerning. His friend and former aide-de-camp, Horace Porter, tried to warn him in early 1884. Even during the Gilded Age, a period of tremendous economic expansion when some amassed previously unheard-of wealth, the profits Ward claimed were beyond belief.25 The era’s name was coined by Mark Twain in his novel The Gilded Age: A Tale of Today, published during Grant’s presidency. (Grant was familiar with Twain’s novel, for he attended a play based on the book in the fall of 1874.26) Corruption was also hallmark of the era, and Grant’s scandal-plagued administration was emblematic of that. As historian Ronald C. White writes, “scandals and skullduggery . . . were becoming part of the business and politics [of the age].”27

Despite inexplicably large gains, Grant was undeterred and his faith in Ward unshaken. On May 4, 1884, Ward arrived at Grant’s home unannounced. A bashful Ward apologized for the intrusion and asked Grant if he could borrow $150,000 immediately. The Marine Bank, which held Grant & Ward’s funds, was in danger of closing due to the city’s unexpected withdrawal, which would cause great embarrassment to the firm. Ward eased Grant’s concerns and promised there was no risk and he would be repaid within a day. Since Grant’s riches were all on paper, and not in cash, he approached William H. Vanderbilt for a loan. Vanderbilt was suspicious of Ward and his miracle profits and told Grant, “What I’ve heard about that firm would not justify me in lending it a dime.”28 He added, “I care very little about Grant and Ward. But to accommodate you personally I will draw my check for the amount you ask. I consider it a personal loan to you and not to any other party.”29 Vanderbilt was right. Just like Bernie Madoff 130 years later, Ward was running what would become known as a Ponzi scheme. His clients’ “profits” were, in actuality, investments from other clients. The house of cards inevitably tumbled on May 6, 1884, and the failure of Grant & Ward and the Marine Bank would help precipitate what would become known as the Panic of 1884. Grant lost everything. Now he was not only bankrupt but also deep in debt to Vanderbilt.

That was not even the worst thing that happened to Grant that year.

In general, Grant had enjoyed good health, despite still suffering from a hip injury he had incurred on Christmas Day 1883, when the sixty-one-year-old Grant stepped out of a carriage in front of his home and slipped on a frozen sidewalk. He fractured his hip and was required to use crutches. Soon he was to experience a much more serious medical crisis. Grant was a prolific cigar smoker, a habit that began as he emerged a national hero in the Civil War. Grant had been a pipe enthusiast, but at the Battle of Fort Donelson an admiral handed him a cigar, which he absently kept with him throughout the fighting, alternating between holding it in his hand and chewing on the stump. After the victory, a newspaper printed a potent image of a calm Grant, with cigar in mouth, as the battle raged.30 Soon people responded by flooding the postal service with boxes of cigars for the general. Most were from grateful citizens, but more than a few gifts came from opportunistic manufacturers hoping Grant would be seen smoking their product. In a short time, Grant amassed an astounding arsenal of more than 11,000 cigars.31 In an attempt to match demand with supply, Grant dropped the pipe and was soon on his way to a lifelong habit of twenty stogies a day. It was therefore not surprising when he began to suffer from a sore throat.

On May 30, 1884, Grant left New York for his three-story, twenty-eight-room vacation cottage at 995 Ocean Avenue, Long Branch, New Jersey. The town was a popular spot for the rich and famous of the day. Grant had first visited Long Branch in 1868 as a guest of George W. Childs, co-owner of the Philadelphia Public Ledger, whom he had met during the Civil War. In 1869, Childs, along with railroad magnate George Pullman and New York banker Moses Taylor, purchased the home and, like his New York brownstone years later, gave it to Grant as a gift. While today a group of millionaire businessmen purchasing a home for the sitting president would surely raise ethical eyebrows, in the Gilded Age such a favor barely caused a stir. Grant’s arrival transformed Long Branch. As one author wrote years later, “the resort rose steadily in eminence until it reached a peak with the arrival of President Ulysses S. Grant.”32

On June 2, Grant sat with Julia in the pantry. He picked up a peach and took a bite, but to his surprise he experienced a sharp, searing pain. At first, thinking it was a bee or wasp, Grant cried out, “Oh my, I think something has stung me from that peach.” He drank some water, but it only exacerbated the pain and burned like “liquid fire” as he swallowed.33 The discomfort slowly subsided, but Julia remained concerned and urged him to seek medical care, at which Grant assured her, “No it will be all right directly, and I will not have a doctor.”34

Grant did, however, tell Childs of the pain in his throat. Childs suggested that an internist who was staying in Long Branch at the time, Dr. Jacob M. Da Costa from Philadelphia, take a look. Da Costa found a lesion and advised Grant to schedule an appointment with his regular New York physician, Dr. Fordyce Barker, for a more thorough examination. As the pain became more bearable, Grant’s sense of the urgency dimmed, and he didn’t schedule the appointment until his summer vacation had ended. But he may have been aware that he had serious health issues.

Two months after the peach incident, on August 4, Grant attended a reunion of the Army Chaplains of the Civil War in the great auditorium in Ocean Grove, New Jersey. In the crowd were thousands of Union and Confederate veterans who had benefited from the spiritual and medical care of the Christian and Sanitary Commissions in attendance at the convention. The event was presided over by Childs, who was also president of the Christian Commission during the war.

Grant was introduced to the crowd by Union veteran Reverend A. J. Palmer, who proclaimed, “no combination of Wall Street sharpers shall tarnish the luster of my old commander’s fame.”35 Grant, still using crutches from his hip injury eight months earlier, struggled from his chair and was assisted to the podium. The crowd erupted in applause and Reverend E. H. Stokes described the scene: “Moved by the united impulse of full hearts, [the crowd] rose to its feet and, with cheers and waving handkerchiefs, gave the wounded chief such a greeting and welcome as has perhaps never before been accorded to any visitor on these grounds. It was indeed . . . an ovation that defied description.”36 Grant, overcome with emotion, struggled to gain his composure. He spoke in a faltering voice: “Ladies and gentlemen—under all circumstances it is a difficult matter for me to speak, and how much more difficult under the present circumstances. An hour ago, I might have said something about the Sanitary and Christian commissions. I witnessed the good done. They did a great deal by way of consolation, writing letters to friends at home for the sick and wounded and found where their dead were buried.” A distracted Grant added, “I hope you are all having a good time here today,” then struggled as he began another thought, “I appreciate . . .” but could not continue.

Grant broke into sobs before the concerned audience. Unbeknownst to those in the crowd, but as perhaps Grant was painfully aware, this would be his last public appearance. He had never been a renowned orator, but his final showing ended with him falling back into his chair and weeping uncontrollably. Reporters blamed it on his bad leg and the financial crash.37 But what they didn’t know, and what even Grant had yet to confirm but surely suspected, was that he was gravely ill.

[image: image]

Dr. Fordyce Barker, who was the first physician to treat Grant for the pains in his throat that were later diagnosed as cancer. (Courtesy of The National Library of Medicine)
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Dr. George Frederick Shrady, a noted microbiologist, who diagnosed Grant with throat cancer. He continued to treat Grant until his death. (Photo from his 1908 memoir General Grant’s Last Days)

On September 5, Grant signed his last will and testament. It was drawn up by his lawyer, William A. Purrington, who was a friend of Buck. It was witnessed by Childs and his guest, Reverend Henry J. Morton of Philadelphia.38 At the end of the summer, Grant returned to New York, but it was not until October 20 that he finally met with Dr. Fordyce Barker. Barker was an accomplished physician, a member of medical associations in Europe, and president of the New York State Medical Society.39 After examining him and finding an inflammation, Barker sent Grant to the foremost throat specialist on the East Coast, Dr. John Hancock Douglas. Grant had known the handsome, gray-haired Douglas since 1862; they had first met during the Civil War, when Douglas served on the United Sates Sanitary Commission. On October 22, Douglas discovered three small growths at the back of the roof of Grant’s mouth and a swollen gland on the right side. But the most concerning was a scaly, inflamed growth at the base of Grant’s tongue.40

Grant asked Douglas bluntly, “Is it cancer?” Douglas later wrote about his thoughts at that moment: “The question having been asked, I could give no uncertain, hesitating reply . . . I realized that if he once found that I had deceived him, I could never reinstate myself in his good opinion.”41 Douglas delivered his sobering prognosis of advanced tongue and throat cancer. In his memoirs, Douglas added that his response to Grant was “qualified by hope,” but he knew it was bad. In 1884, cancer was a veritable death sentence. Douglas called upon Dr. Barker and two additional specialists, Dr. Henry Sands and Dr. T. M. Markoe, to review his prognosis. Douglas also took a biopsy and sent the frozen sample to a noted microbiologist, Dr. George Frederick Shrady.

Shrady was no stranger to presidents. Three years earlier, he was consulted by Dr. Willard Bliss as he cared for a dying President James Garfield after he’d been shot by Charles J. Guiteau. Following Garfield’s death from his wounds two and a half months later and Guiteau’s execution for his crime, Dr. Shrady played a part in both of their autopsies.42 But now, the noted physician was unaware he was once again tasked with the care of a president. Grant’s identity was concealed so Shrady could make an impartial examination, and his confirmation was disheartening: “The tissue comes from the base of the throat and tongue, and is affected with cancer.” Shrady was then told that the specimen came from Ulysses S. Grant. The doctor bluntly responded, “Then General Grant is doomed.”43
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“IT IS ALL OVER”

WITHIN A MATTER of five months, Grant’s world had shattered. In May 1884, he was wealthy and healthy, though still nursing a fractured and mending hip; by October he was bankrupt and mortally ill. Dr. Douglas, having concluded Grant was beyond a cure, instead shifted attention to making him as comfortable as possible. He administered cocaine for the pain and had Grant return twice a day for a dose of iodoform, a medication similar to chloroform, to treat the infection. (Later, he showed Julia how to administer the medicine from home.) The medication would, at least for a while, reduce the pain so Grant could eat and sleep. But Douglas understood what the next few months held for Grant, and it was grim: the cancer would spread to his neck, and eventually Grant would struggle to eat and breathe. Aware his time was limited, Grant focused on regaining financial security for his family.

Grant was a loyal friend (to a fault, some would claim), and now that he was in need, his wealthy friends offered their assistance. But while he was diminished in some ways, his pride was not, and he chose not to accept their generosity. Though his situation was dismal, a heroic and famous man like Grant was not without options.

Many times, he had received offers to publish his memoirs. His “Table Talk” interviews with John Russell Young during his voyage around the world had whetted the public’s appetite for more. In the intervening years, Grant had written several articles about select Civil War engagements for Century Magazine, which netted him $500 each, but he had repeatedly declined to expand his experiences into a full memoir. Grant did not believe himself to be a disciplined writer—and regardless, he humbly doubted the public was interested. While today presidential memoirs are commonplace, if not obligatory, this was not the case in the 1880s, when there was little precedent for such a book. Only James Buchanan had published his memoirs, Mr. Buchanan’s Administration on the Eve of The Rebellion, a year after the Civil War. It was an unconvincing effort to salvage his legacy and hardly a bestseller. Martin Van Buren started working on an autobiography when he was seventy-one, but he died eight years later, before it was completed.1

As soon as Grant learned of his diagnosis, he left Douglas’s office and immediately went to the office of the Century Company at 3 East Seventeenth Street on Union Square. He told them he was now ready to consider a full-length book. By 1885, Civil War personal memoirs and battlefield accounts had become somewhat of a cottage industry. Many were written by privates, both to deal with post-traumatic stress and to supplement their meager military pensions. Tomes authored by generals, both Union and Confederate, were more profitable and in demand, and many of them were first featured in the pages of Century Magazine.2 Grant, as the top military official and most beloved figure of his era, had always been the most sought-after prize of publishing houses. Needless to say, Century representatives were elated that he had reconsidered their previous offers. But that appreciation did not mean they were prepared to offer special contract arrangements, and they proposed a standard 10 percent royalty on expected sales of 25,000 units. Grant decided to think about the offer and left the office without signing a contract.

Grant discussed the terms of the contract with his friend, Mark Twain. While Twain was a great admirer of Grant, he was also a businessman and knew that someone of Grant’s stature should command much better terms. Earlier in 1884, Twain had started his own publishing house, Charles L. Webster & Company, and was in the process of publishing its first book, The Adventures of Huckleberry Finn. He proposed that the company’s second book be Grant’s memoirs. After some negotiating and discussions with Century, Twain and Grant agreed on a much more generous publishing contract, one that was guaranteed to provide his family with sufficient income after he was gone. Century Company publishers would still reap some benefits. They had paid Grant for the serialization rights, so portions of the memoirs would first appear in Century Magazine. Once published, the rights would revert to Grant to include in his book.3

Grant went to work. From November 1884 through the winter, he could most likely be found working at his desk. His preferred position was one leg crossed over the other and his body twisted to the right, so he faced the desk. He wore horn-rimmed glasses as well as a shawl and wool cap to keep warm. Grant preferred a pen over a pencil and wrote on manila sheet paper. Assistants, including his Civil War aide-de-camp, Horace Porter, helped with the writing and research, but the words on the page were all his.

Grant was attended by his African American valet Harrison Tyrrell, who accompanied Grant to medical appointments and knew as well as anyone the pain he endured. As November turned to December, Grant struggled to sleep. He could endure the pain, but the insomnia was the most difficult for him. During a visit, Porter reminded Grant how during the war the general could sleep under the most terrifying conditions. “Ah, yes,” Grant recalled, “it seems strange that I, who always slept so well in the field, should now pass whole nights in the quiet of this peaceful house without being able to close my eyes.”4 As the weeks dragged on, an exhausted Grant sank into depression and struggled to write. Instead, he would sit by the fire and play solitaire, alone in his thoughts, for hours on end. But by Christmas, Grant’s spirits improved, and he resumed writing on a regular basis.

Grant’s physical condition remained a secret from the general public for several months. In January 1885, a Philadelphia newspaper reported Grant was suffering an illness, although the reporter did not know the specifics. Grant’s doctors did their best to keep up the façade, telling pesky reporters, “The General is cheerful and comfortable.”5 Even Twain was fooled. When he told Grant how happy he was to read of the good prognosis, Grant lamented, “Yes—if it had only been true.”6

As his cancer progressed, Grant struggled to speak, and when he swallowed it felt like “molten lead” going down his throat.7 Doctors limited his diet to soup, milk, and oatmeal, and his weight plummeted (eventually he would lose a staggering seventy-five pounds). He was administered morphine and a mixture of liquid cocaine and disinfectant. The powerful narcotics provided him temporary relief from pain, but Grant was always concerned about becoming addicted.8 During the day, he feared he would choke to death. At night, he was haunted by demons as nightmares invaded his sleep. In these sinister dreams, he relived the most harrowing moments of the Civil War, awash with symbolism of what bankruptcy would do to his beloved wife. He experienced excruciating pain in his face and ears. His doctors removed all of Grant’s rotted teeth to alleviate his throat pain. “Most of his food is in liquid form and once in a while he takes a little meat cut up very fine,” Dr. Douglas later noted.9 In February 1885, Grant’s son Fred confided to Twain that his father might only have weeks to live.

But Grant was a fighter, and he found much-needed distraction and purpose in writing. His memoirs became his reason to live, and he labored six to eight hours a day to complete them before his death. His doctor warned Grant’s son, “I fear the worst the day the General completes his book.”10 The saga of Grant’s final months is an epic final chapter in the life of one of America’s most extraordinary men.

On February 28, Grant’s son Fred could keep up the charade no longer. A week earlier, a “rose-colored report” was published in a medical journal about Grant’s health that proved to be his final straw. It was all a ruse; Fred told an Associated Press reporter, “My father is a very sick man. There is no use in longer denying the fact.”11 The next day, the New York Herald splashed the dramatic headline across the page: GRANT IS DYING.

Immediately, a deathwatch began as reporters set up camp outside the home. Doctors, no longer burdened with evading the press, released updates twice a day. Within a week of the headline, New York police were stationed outside Grant’s home to control the reporters and gawkers. Eventually, the newsmen coalesced in a headquarters nearby on Madison Avenue that was equipped with telegraph lines to file their reports. Reporters stoked the country’s worst fears when they reported, “Grant is dying and may be dead tomorrow.”12 Soon afterward, Harper’s Weekly would print full front-page engravings of Grant in three consecutive issues, each showing him in a weaker condition than in the previous one.13 The attention the press paid to Grant at this time was extraordinary and would abate only somewhat throughout the next dozen years. This was not only because Grant was a national hero. In modern parlance, the period between his illness and when his tomb was finally dedicated, in 1897, was a very long slow news cycle. For one thing, it fell in the midst of a twenty-year stretch during which no sitting presidents had died—from James Garfield’s death in 1881 to William McKinley’s in 1901—the longest since William Henry Harrison became the first president to die in office in 1841. In addition, the press did not have the distraction of a major American war. The years 1884–1897 fell roughly in the middle of a thirty-three-year stretch without American involvement in a significant conflict, which began with the end of the Civil War and ended the year after Grant’s Tomb was dedicated with the outbreak of the Spanish American War in 1898. During this extended period of peacetime and uneventful presidential succession, Grant’s health, death, public remembrances, and memorial tomb were given extraordinary coverages.14

Now that the public knew the truth of Grant’s health and imminent death, some suggested a gesture of American appreciation. In addition to proclamations of sympathy, there were sporadic calls for a public memorial. On February 21, 1885, a week before news of Grant’s health broke, the Washington Monument was dedicated by President Chester Arthur. While fundraising had started more than fifty years earlier, the mammoth structure symbolized the monumental ostentatiousness of the Gilded Age. At over 555 feet, the obelisk was the tallest building on earth and to this day remains the tallest stone structure in the world. Washington was the father of the Union, but Grant had saved it. Surely, a comparable memorial was appropriate for Grant. But for now, he was still alive, and Grant had one last request from his country.

When he had become president, Grant was stripped of his title of “general,” as was customary and appropriate for the civilian leader of the nation. Now, as he approached the end of his life, he asked President Arthur to restore his military title. His presidency had been rife with scandal, and Grant himself had conceded in his farewell address, “Mistakes have been made, as all can see and I admit.” But that was not the case with his Civil War accomplishments. “General” was the title he cherished, and it was as General Grant, not President Grant, that he wanted to die. But his request was not just sentimental or symbolic. As general, he would receive a $13,500 annual pension, while as an ex-president he received none. (This was the case until President Dwight Eisenhower signed the Former Presidents Act into law on August 25, 1958.) More importantly, Julia would receive $5,000 a year as a general’s widow.15 These funds would be desperately needed by his wife until royalties from the book began to arrive (and whether the book would ever generate a profit was not at all certain).16 President Arthur made the bill granting this wish one of his top priorities. The Senate consented unanimously, and on March 4, 1885, in his last official act as president, Arthur ordered Grant to be notified by telegram of his reinstatement. Moments later, President Arthur escorted Grover Cleveland to his inauguration.17 In New York, the telegram was received with great joy and rendered an appreciative Grant speechless. But Julia spoke eloquently for both when she said, “They have brought us back our old commander.”18

As the weeks progressed, Grant’s energy faded, and his writing slowed. Toward the end of March, a series of violent coughing spells seemed to indicate the end was near. On March 25, he suffered a violent spasm of coughing and was administered cocaine and morphine, though Grant disliked the latter, as it clouded his mind and made writing difficult. On March 30, he suffered another coughing spell so severe his doctors believed he might not live through the night. Even if he did, they grimly surmised, he would surely be dead within ten days. Fearing he could not survive another similar attack, they contemplated removing his tongue but refrained, suspecting that he could not endure such an operation. Grant’s physicians were running out of treatment options as the cancer metastasized and spread throughout his throat and neck.

When Fred confessed Grant’s condition to the press, he expressed fears that “there would be hundreds of letters coming with every mail, and this would only excite him.”19 Of course, he was right. In addition to generous offers, home remedies, and miracle cures, letters of goodwill and best wishes also poured in. One of the more intriguing came from California. Several wealthy citizens, led by Civil War veteran General Francs Darr, offered to buy Grant a home to live in on a vineyard “under the direction of a skilled viticulturist.” Grant politely declined.20 A class of young girls from Brooklyn’s Clinton Avenue Institute, who had recently studied the Civil War, expressed “their heart-felt sympathy . . . in your suffering illness.”21 The Excelsior Club of Hackensack, New Jersey, also offered sympathy, but closed with the temerity to ask for a receipt as a keepsake.22 On March 29, local children wrote Grant, “We little ones of the ‘Children’s Hour’ of the Sixty First Methodist Church New York have heard that you are sick. We are very sorry and pray to God to make you well again. . . . We shall remember you when the big people now living are dead. . . . Please accept our hearty love, good wishes and prayers.”23 But a cure for Grant was not to be found from the letters or quack remedies suggested to him.

Julia, fearing Grant was close to death, sent for Reverend John Philip Newman from Washington, DC. Newman was pastor at the church where Grant worshipped as president and chaplain of the Senate from 1869 to 1874. With Ulysses and Julia in the audience, he also preached at Dedication Day at Metropolitan Methodist Church four days before Grant’s inauguration in 1869.24 To Julia’s dismay, Grant had never been baptized, so she implored Newman to convince her husband it was not too late. Grant was skeptical of Newman, but for Julia’s sake he was polite to the reverend. On April 1, Grant suffered yet another violent coughing spasm. Newman baptized Grant while he drifted in and out of consciousness at a moment when doctors thought he might only have minutes left to live. Shortly after the sacrament was completed, Doctors Shrady and Douglas injected Grant with brandy in hopes to revive him. When his choking spasms continued unabated, they administered a second injection and his pain began to ease.25 Three days later, Mark Twain wrote an entry in his diary, morbid in its simplicity: “Gen Grant is still living, this morning.”26

Amazingly, after the doctors had predicted his imminent demise, Grant defied expectations and improved. On Easter Sunday, April 5, Grant dozed by the fire. As he slept, thousands of people gathered outside his window on Sixty-Sixth Street and stood in silence. When Grant awoke, he saw the crowd and told his doctor, “What a beautiful day it is.” Told how fond they were of him, he replied, “I am very grateful for them, very. I am sure I should like them to know that I am appreciative.” Months earlier Grant feared his writing was substandard, but now it was his primary method of communication, so he took his pen to paper. He offered thanks to all those who showed him heartfelt love and enduring support. Only the day before, Grant had received a “very friendly and condolatory letter” from his former adversary, Confederate President Jefferson Davis.27 Now he thought of the Confederates as he wrote his message. Grant’s wishes were not only for those close to him, but also to “Those who have not hitherto been regarded as friends.” Grant, with no more malice in his heart or time for enemies, was at peace. His “Easter Message,” as it became known, was printed in Century Magazine and newspapers across the globe. Southern newspapers in particular received his message with kindness and sympathy. This was the opening salvo of the spirit of reunification and reconciliation that became a hallmark of Grant’s final struggle and would persist after his death.
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Harper’s Weekly, April 11, 1885. As evidence of his unrivaled popularity, an image of an enfeebled Grant taking a carriage ride is front-page news. (Courtesy of the National Park Service, Manhattan Historic Sites Archive)

On April 9, twenty years after Lee’s surrender at Appomattox, Grant made a request of his doctors. Could he enjoy his beloved vice just once more and have a few puffs of a cigar to celebrate the anniversary? With nothing to lose, the doctors agreed, and Grant indulged for the last time.
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Harper’s Weekly, April 18, 1885. Grant surrounded by his physicians (Douglas, Sands, Shrady, Barker). (Courtesy of the National Park Service, Manhattan Historic Sites Archive)

Expressions of sympathy were published in newspapers across the country. As a testament to the magnanimous warrior, his former enemies expressed their concerns when the Confederate Survivors Association from Augusta, Georgia, wrote on his birthday, April 27, “Remembering him now as the generous victor who . . . conceded liberal and magnanimous terms of surrender, do we—standing by the graves of our Confederate Dead . . .—respectfully tender to General Grant assurances of our sincere and profound sympathy in this season of his direful extremity.”28

On May 23, Grant penned his dedication in broad, eloquent script: “These volumes are dedicated to the American soldiers and sailors.” A week later, a group of those soldiers reciprocated their support and dedication for Grant. Four hundred from the Grand Army of the Republic (GAR), a fraternal organization of Union veterans that formed shortly after the Civil War, marched past his home as a band played “Marching through Georgia.” Upon hearing the song, Grant moved to his window, drew back the curtain, and saluted the veterans.29

As the warm spring turned to a sweltering summer, the city heat further aggravated Grant’s health. His doctors suggested a change of climate might improve his condition. Upon learning of the doctor’s advice, Grant’s good friend and staunch Republican Joseph W. Drexel offered his modest cottage in Mount McGregor, a remote location in the Adirondacks of upstate New York, north of Saratoga Springs. The son of an Austrian immigrant, Joseph Drexel had entered the banking business with his father in Philadelphia. Following his father’s death in 1871, he came to New York and joined his brother, Anthony, at Drexel, Morgan, and Company.30 While old money fraternized in Newport, Rhode Island, one reporter disparagingly remarked, the new rich “are very fond of frequenting the watering places of Saratoga.”31 Grant, as a member of that class of nouveau riche, was familiar with Saratoga Springs, known as the Spa City. He had visited it six times since the end of the Civil War, including three as president, and was last there in 1882.32

Drexel’s offer to Grant, however, was not entirely altruistic. As owner of the nearby Balmoral Hotel (which would provide meals and services during Grant’s stay), Drexel believed that, in life, Grant would draw throngs to the area. But more substantially and inevitably, in death the home would be forever memorialized. Drexel’s business partner was blunt: “If [Grant] should die [at Mount McGregor], it might make the place a national shrine—and incidentally a success.”33 Drexel’s motives aside, Grant’s doctors concurred that the home provided the fresh air and solitude that Grant so desperately needed. After a grateful Grant accepted the offer, work got underway at the cottage to make it suitable for his stay. Arrangements were made for Dr. Douglas to stay with Grant while Shrady boarded nearby. Initial plans were for the Grants to depart on June 23, but the date was moved up a week as Grant’s health rapidly declined. Grant was optimistic, however, and planned a return trip for two months hence, on September 15.

On June 16, 1885, as the temperature in New York City approached 100 degrees, an emaciated Grant emerged from his home at 8:00 a.m., bundled in a wool cap, coat, and scarf. This was the first time many reporters had seen him since the announcement of cancer several months earlier. “His body is wasted almost to a skeleton and the bones of his hands and wrists show through the tightly drawn skin,” a journalist for the Salt Lake Evening Democrat grimly reported.34 Grant rode a carriage to Grand Central Station and boarded a special 9:30 a.m. train. The train had been graciously provided by William H. Vanderbilt, who a year earlier had loaned Grant money that he suspected he might never see again. But Grant was determined to repay his loan. Without the cash, he sent Vanderbilt a treasure trove of historic artifacts accrued throughout his life, such as battle maps and swords from the Civil War and gold coins and gifts from his worldwide travels. Vanderbilt initially refused, but Grant was adamant. In the end, Vanderbilt accepted the repayment so as not to embarrass his friend but vowed to donate them to the Smithsonian upon Grant’s death. With that sad event inevitably approaching, Vanderbilt was able to offer his train as a small token of his admiration.

Grant adjusted his wool cap and settled into his seat. Crowds could be seen gathered along the tracks as the train meandered north through the Hudson Valley. As the train slowed at a station along the way, railroad workers waved their arms, but one was missing a hand. “Thank God I see you alive, General Grant,” the track worker cried. Looking at the stump on his wrist, he added, “I lost that with you at the Wilderness, an’ I’d give th’ other one to make you well.” An emotional Grant saluted in reply.35

At 10:15 a.m., the train passed West Point, prompting a nod and faint smile to cross Grant’s lips as he saw his alma mater. The only stop on the way to Saratoga was in Albany, so one journalist on board the train, eager to get timely reports of Grant’s condition to his publisher for the afternoon edition, instructed Western Union operators to “watch for copy to be thrown off the train as it went through . . . Tarrytown, Peekskill, Poughkeepsie, Rhinebeck, and Hudson.”36
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